#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01364

\* \* \*

SARAH B. HICKS, L.T. HICKS, MARTHA JO HALE (FORMERLY MARTHA JO HORTON), WILLIAM M. EVANS, ROBERT D. CHILDERS, and RAY D. SPENCER

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

NORTH AMERICAN COMPANY FOR LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE and CLIFF HANCOCK d/b/a HANCOCK INSURANCE AGENCY

**APPELLEES** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BENTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. B2004-066

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

William C. Spencer, William D. Prestage, MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A. 105 South Front Street P.O. Box 7120 Tupelo, MS 38802-7120 (662) 842-3871

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting the defendants' motions for summary judgment.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Factual and Procedural Background

## A. Procedural History

The lawsuit underlying the present appeal is based upon allegations of fraudulent inducement, common-law fraud, fraudulent concealment, fraudulent and deceptive sales practices, improper training, and breach of fiduciary duties of North American Company for Life and Health Insurance (hereinafter "North American" and their agent Cliff Hancock (hereinafter "Hancock"). Evidence in the record demonstrates the fraudulent scheme developed between North American and Hancock in order to induce insureds to purchase life insurance policies which differed from the illustrations shown and representations made at the point of sale. The record further illustrates North American and Hancock's acts of concealment are an attempt to prevent the insureds from discovering the wrongs committed against them.

After the plaintiffs uncovered North American and Hancock's true actions with regard to the insurance policies at issue, they promptly and properly filed the underlying lawsuit on August 31, 2004. Record, (hereinafter "R."), pp. 2-16; Record Excerpts, (hereinafter "Excerpts"), Tab "B".

North American filed its Motions for Summary Judgment on June 6, 2006, with Hancock filing similar motions shortly thereafter. The insureds fully responded to Defendants' motions, which came on for hearing on June 12, 2008. The trial court judge subsequently granted all summary judgment motions via its Order and Opinion signed on July 3, 2008 and filed on July 10, 2008. R., pp. 2212-2219; Excerpts, Tabs "C" and "D", respectively.

The trial court's Opinion, providing the basis for its granting summary judgment, stated that, "the applicable language in the policies at hand does not require an expert to understand. Quite the contrary, when the language was read to the plaintiffs at their deposition they indicated that they understood what it meant." R. at 2217; Excerpts, Tab "D". The trial court further found that the plaintiffs failed to satisfy the requirement of due diligence by failing to fully read the policies they were provided by North American and Hancock. R. at 2217-2218; Excerpts, Tab "D".

The trial court went on to find that summary judgment was proper as to the plaintiff's claims of breach of fiduciary duty and suppression, due to the fact that "there is no fiduciary relationship or duty between an insurance company and its insured in a first party insurance contract." R, at 2218; Excerpts, Tab "D".

It is from the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the underlying insurer and agent that the insureds now appeal. R. at 2257; Excerpts, Tab "F".

## B. Underlying Facts.

The North American life insurance policies at issue are referred to as Term UL policies. Term UL policies are universal life products that operate like a term product. R. at 2265. This type of policy was created not to build cash value, but to compete more against term products and operate like a term product with levelized charges and lower costs for a certain period of time, 20 or 30 years. R. at 2265.

The policies were sold by agents of North American using illustrations which showed two different interest rates. R. at 2267. These illustrations contained both projected rates and guaranteed rates. The projected rate contained in the illustrations was generally equal to the current crediting rate, but the agents had the ability to change the rates during preparation of the

3

illustrations. <u>R.</u> at 2267-2268. Due to the fact that its agents had this ability to manipulate the numbers on the illustrations shown to potential customers, North American is unable to tell us exactly what illustrations were shown to the clients at the point of sale or what interest rates were used as projected rates on these illustrations. <u>R.</u> at 2268.

Generally, the base premium on a Term UL policy is equal to the minimum premium. R. at 2269. On the Classic Term UL II, for example, the minimum premium was designed to carry the policy for thirty (30) years. R. at 2269. On the Classic Term UL 20, the minimum premium would only have kept the policy in effect for twenty (20) years. R. at 2269. These policies, despite clearly containing a maturity age of 100, were not actually designed to reach maturity unless something more than the base premium was paid. R. at 2270.

North American operates under a general agent system. R. at 2278. In utilizing this general agent system, North American only sent communications concerning their sold policies to their general agents despite the fact that the selling agents actually sold the polices and had contact with the insureds. R. at 2279. The home office of North American sends absolutely no communications to their writing agents and would have no knowledge of what its general agents forward on to its writing agents. R. at 2279-2280. North American's file pertaining to its agent included in the lawsuit underlying the present appeal, Cliff Hancock, contains no evidence of training, correspondence concerning use of illustrations, or communication regarding sales practices. R. at 2281. Additionally, North American has no knowledge of any supervision Cliff Hancock's supervising general agent may have given him. R. at 2281.

According to North American policy, the illustrations used during the sale of these policies were not required to be left with the policy holder, and the agent did not even have to illustrate the type of policy that was actually sold or delivered. R. at 2282. North American's

only requirement was that a signed amendment must be procured which acknowledged the change in policy type. R. at 2282. North American was unable to testify to whether the Mississippi state requirements were complied with during the sale of the policies at issue. R. at 2284.

Between 1990 and 1998, North American created performance reports containing information about the company and interest rate trends as well as the interest rates North American was crediting on their portfolio. R. at 2295. These reports accompanied the annual statements which were sent to their policyholders and informed the policyholders of this important info, but were discontinued at North American's election after 1998. R. at 2295-2296.

The annual statements which were sent out by North American did not contain or inform insureds of yearly changes in interest rates. In order to determine if the interest rate credited to their policies had changed, policyholders had to refer to their statements from the previous year. R. at 2290. The annual statements contained a disclosure telling the insured when their policy would lapse in the event the insured made no more premium payments. However, nothing in the annual statements showed when, or if, the policy would lapse if the insured were to continue making their planned premium payments. R. at 2290. The illustrations prepared by North American generally contain a projected stop age for the policy as 99 with no explanation that the policy will not reach that age. R. at 2292. In addition, the mere fact that policies were "guaranteed" by North American to last twenty (20) years did not in reality guarantee twenty (20) years of coverage for an insured. R. at 2293. Illustrative of this point is the case of Sarah Hicks, whose twenty (20) year "guarantee" was immaterial.

- Q. And this is the policy that was designed to go guarantee 20 years?
- A. It was not guaranteed for 20 years blanket statement. It was it had a guarantee that the the 20 years was a variable depending upon your issue age. It scaled down the older you got, but it was 20 it was 20 years as

long as your account value remained positive, so if she became – had a negative account value, which is – looks to be the situation here, she would have gone into grace despite that guarantee.

R. at 2293.

North American provided a number of services in order to train their general agents in regard to North American's products, but did not make these training services available to its writing agents who were selling North American products to the public. R. at 2310. North American conducted some seminars with some writing agent participation, but there is no evidence that Cliff Hancock attended any such seminar. R. at 2310. In fact, North American had a sales support staff available to answer general agent's questions. R. at 2310. This service was occasionally utilized by the writing agents, but not because North American intended for them to use it. R. at 2310. When asked how they notified their writing agents of the availability of such a service, North American's testimony was that "We didn't notify them, they found out." R. at 2310.

North American had no knowledge of its general agents actually providing any training materials to the selling agents, nor did it have any formal policy by which the home office monitored the general agents' supervision of its selling agents. R. at 2311-2312.

North American, through its 30(b)(6) testimony, acknowledged the importance of its agents clearly disclosing how their policies operate and making certain that an insured understands its policy when delivered: R. at 2317. The importance of these disclosures at the point of sale is shown throughout the testimony.

- Q. Would it be improper for a sales agent to represent that a premium that the policyholder could pay a certain premium until maturity, and the policy would remain in force until maturity if, in fact, this premium was a premium that turned out to be insufficient to carry the policy to maturity?
- A. Yes, that would be improper.

- Q. If a sales agent has shown an illustration at point of sale or leading up to the point of sale, and, in fact, it's determined that a different type policy would actually be sold or issued rather than the one that was illustrated?
- A. Uh-hum.
- Q. All right. Wouldn't North American expect or require the sales agent to disclose to the potential policyholder that the illustration they've looked at is not an illustration of the policy they're, in fact, buying?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Would it be improper for a selling agent to not disclose that the premium could change for various circumstances rather than remain level throughout the term of the policy?
- A. It would be improper for him not to advise the client of that, yes.

  R. at 2318.

Additionally, each of the plaintiffs in the underlying lawsuit testified via deposition, that they were misinformed about their North American policies at the time of sale, were unable to understand the policies after review of same, and filed the present lawsuit promptly after learning of the actionable conduct of North American and its agent, Cliff Hancock. For the Court's convenience, brief summarizations of the plaintiffs' applicable testimony will be included below:

#### Sara B. Hicks and L.T. Hicks

Hancock approached the Hicks regarding insurance and sold them both North American policies on his initial visit with them. R. at 2473-2475, 2478, 2495. At the point of sale, Hancock assured the Hicks that the premium on the North American policy would remain the same throughout the policy, that the policy would build cash value, and that it would remain in force for the rest of the Hicks' lives. R. at 2496, 2500, 2503, 2505-2506, 2510-2511. Hancock

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is also pertinent to note that the bulk of North American and Cliff Hancock's actionable conduct was not only concealed from the view of the plaintiffs, but was completely unknown until the plaintiffs had the opportunity to conduct discovery after filing the underlying lawsuit.

showed a brochure and projection to the Hicks regarding the North American policies, which in no way indicated that the insurance would only last fifteen years. R. at 2596, 2506, 2511. The first time Ms. Hicks was put on notice that her policy was different than represented to her was when she received a 2004 letter from North American informing her that her premiums would be increasing. R. at 2481. Only when Sara Hicks premiums were increased in 2004 did L.T. Hicks become concerned about his policy. R. at 2500. The Hicks were never told that their policies would end after a certain number of years, nor could they understand the policy despite review. R. at 2505. Mr. Hicks clearly testified that he would have cancelled the policy immediately has he been notified in clear language that the policy would lapse. R. at 2512.

## Ray Spencer

Mr. Spencer had previously purchased an insurance policy through Cliff Hancock in the mid-eighties, and contacted Hancock when he felt he needed additional insurance. R. at 2388. Mr. Spencer informed Hancock on the phone prior to the first visit that he wanted a \$100,000 policy on himself that would last the rest of his life, and based on their ongoing relationship, trusted Hancock to tell him what he needed. R. at 2389. Hancock came to Mr. Spencer's house to meet with Mr. Spencer and his wife sometime around the spring of 1993. R. at 2389. At that meeting, Mr. Spencer again informed Hancock that he wanted policy with payments which would be the same amount every month, with the option to increase his coverage in the future, in order to protect his wife and children. R. at 2389. Mr. Hancock showed Mr. Spencer several policies and brochures during the hour long meeting, and Mr. Spencer applied for the North American policy at issue shortly thereafter. R. at 2389-2390. Mr. Spencer trusted Hancock to look after his best interest in the sale of life insurance, stating that, "...with insurance, it's Greek

to me. You know, I trust him. That's why I called Clifford, because I did know him, to say you sell me what I need. And that's pretty much how I left that." R. at 2390.

In 2004, Mr. Spencer sent in his regular quarterly payment and was later informed that he still owed around thirty to forty dollars. R. at 2390. He then sent in the extra amount of money and forgot about the payment. R. at 2390. When the next bill came, the North American statement showed that Mr. Spencer owed the regular amount of \$135 and Spencer paid the bill. R. at 2391. However, once again, North American notified Spencer that an extra thirty to forty dollars was due on his account. R. at 2391. Once again, Mr. Spencer paid the extra money, but contacted North American in an effort to find out the reason for the increase. R. at 2391. Although he talked to three different people at North American, Mr. Spencer was unable to find out the reason for the increase in his payments. R. at 2391. Unable to get an answer from the company, Mr. Spencer turned to his agent, Cliff Hancock, to help him find out the reason for the increase. R. at 2391. Although Hancock told Mr. Spencer that he would try to find out why his premiums had gone up, Hancock never got back in touch with him. R. at 2391.

Mr. Spencer's quarterly bills did not reflect the required increase in premium payments until receiving his third quarterly bill of 2004. R. at 2391. Mr. Spencer was never notified by North American of an increase in his premiums or of any reduction in his cash value. R. at 2391. In fact, Spencer emphatically denies receiving any letters in 2004 regarding the increase in his premium payments. R. at 2395.

## William Evans

William H. Evans purchased a Kentucky Central policy from Cliff Hancock in the late 1980's. R. at 2520, 2527. Since that time, Hancock also became Mr. Evans agent for his wrecker business in 2003. R. at 2518. Mr. Evans trusted Hancock, as his insurance agent, to

provide him with policies that meet his needs. R. at 2522. Mr. Evans was satisfied with his Kentucky Central policy until Hancock approached Mr. Evans and informed him that he needed to take out a policy with a different company. R. at 2522, 2527. Hancock explained to Mr. Evans that the new North American policy was a whole life policy just like his policy with Kentucky Central and represented to Mr. Evans that its premiums would remain constant. R. at 2522, 2524.

On the day Mr. Evans applied for the North American policy, Hancock showed him various brochures and charts. R. at 2523. The next time Mr. Evans met with Hancock in regards to his North American policy was around 2004 at which time Mr. Evans questioned Hancock as to why his premiums were rising. R. at 2524. Hancock replied that he did not know why Mr. Evans premiums increased and told Mr. Evans that he would look into the matter and call him back with any information. R. at 2524. However, Hancock never called Mr. Evans back regarding the increases. R. at 2524. Shortly after Hancock's failure to get back in contact with Mr. Evans as promised, Mr. Evans initiated the present lawsuit. R. at 2524.

Mr. Evans had no idea that his policy could expire prior to his death until after the lawsuit had been initiated. In fact, even after reviewing the policy and undergoing a deposition in this action, Mr. Evans was still not clear on whether or not his insurance policy would lapse and was unable to understand the various dates in the policy. R. at 2525, 2531.

#### Martha Jo Hale

Martha Jo Hale contacted Cliff Hancock regarding insurance and stated to Hancock on the telephone prior to their initial meeting that she wanted a while life policy that would never end as long as she paid the level premiums. R. at 2536-2538, 2543. On the initial visit to her home, Hancock showed Ms. Hale various brochures and charts relating to the North American

insurance policy. <u>R.</u> at 2538. Ms. Hale applied for a \$100,000 policy on the initial visit and Hancock filled out all the information for her on the application. <u>R.</u> at 2539.

A couple of years ago, Ms. Hale questioned Hancock regarding loan options on her policy. R. at 2540. He informed Ms. Hale that it was available and assured her that the policy "would be okay." R. at 2540. Ms. Hale did not contemplate the present suit, as she didn't know she had any problems, until she was contacted by her attorney, Michael Greer's office. R. at 2540. In fact, Ms. Hale reviewed the policy after being contacted by Mr. Greer and still was unable to recognize any problems in the policy because she could not understand the language. R. at 2541.

## Robert D. Childers

Prior to purchasing the North American policy at issue, Mr. Childers purchased a Kentucky Central policy from Hancock. R. at 2413-2414. Mr. Childers had known Cliff Hancock since high school and was satisfied with the Kentucky Central policy until Hancock approached him and informed him that he needed to take out a policy with a different company due to financial problems with Kentucky Central. R. at 2414-2417, 2422-2423. At Hancock's urging, Mr. Childers agreed to a \$400,000 North American policy. R. at 2417, 2424. At the point of sale Hancock represented to Mr. Childers that the North American premium payments would remain level and might even decrease, explaining that he was "paying more now so the interest [could] make it offset to where I'd have a level premium throughout my life." R. at 2424, 2439, 2465.

Mr. Childers did not become concerned about the North American policy he purchased until receiving a letter from Michael Greer in 2003, at which point he became concerned about the policy and promptly contacted Hancock. R. at 2426-2427. Hancock informed Mr. Childers

that he could not answer any questions until he received a specific print-out from North American. R. at 2426-2427. After Mr. Childers had North American send him a print-out which he forwarded to Hancock, Hancock informed Childers that North American could cancel him, decline to write him, or require Mr. Childers to pay higher premiums. R. at 2426-2427, 2436. Upon learning this information, Mr. Childers decided to contact Mr. Greer in order to protect his rights and initiate the present action. R. at 2435.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The underlying defendants' motions, and the trial court based its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of the defendants, was anchored to a statute of limitations defense based on the insureds' being put on notice of potential claims against the insurer and failure to establish the requisite elements of fraudulent concealment. Additionally, the trial court held that the underlying plaintiffs' claims of breach of fiduciary duty "has no merit regardless of any proof." R. at 2217; Excerpts, Tab "D".

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