### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2008-CA-01364

SARAH B. HICKS, L.T. HICKS, MARTHA JO HALE (FORMERLY MARTHA JO HORTON), WILLIAM M. EVANS, ROBERT D. CHILDERS, and RAY D. SPENCER.

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

NORTH AMERICAN COMPANY FOR LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE and CLIFF HANCOCK d/b/a HANCOCK INSURANCE AGENCY,

**APPELLEES** 

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Plaintiffs' deposition testimony establishes that their only complaint is that Defendant Hancock allegedly represented that if level premiums were paid, their policies would remain in force until their demise.

When Plaintiffs reviewed their policies, Statements of Policy Cost and Benefits, and annual policy projections at their depositions, they admitted North American informed them in writing multiple times that if level premiums were paid, their policies could lapse in the future. These disclosures were received by Plaintiffs more than three years before suit was filed.

The trial court correctly held that North American's written disclosures were not ambiguous, that there were no post-sale affirmative acts of concealment, and that the Mississippi three-year statute of limitation barred all of Plaintiffs' claims. The trial court further found that Plaintiffs did not use reasonable diligence to discover the alleged misdeeds. The summary judgments, it is respectfully submitted, should be affirmed.

In the Brief of Appellants, Plaintiffs' counsel attempts to divert this Court's attention from their clients' forthright, but self-destructive testimony. Four pages of Plaintiffs' nine-page statement of facts set forth Defendants' alleged misdeeds. Interestingly, for purposes of the statute of limitations issue, those allegations, for sake of argument, are presumed to be true.

On appeal, Plaintiffs' learned counsel assert the written disclosures in Plaintiffs' policies were so ambiguous that Plaintiffs were unable to understand that if a level premium was paid, their policies could lapse before their demise and were thereby prevented from recognizing that the documents sent Plaintiffs by North American contradicted Mr. Hancock's alleged misrepresentations. Such a conclusion is possible only if one ignores Plaintiffs' own testimony and

the straightforward and unambiguous language of Plaintiffs' policies, post-sale policy projections, and Statements of Policy Costs and Benefits Information which Plaintiffs admit they received, but did not read until their depositions.

It appears Plaintiffs' position on appeal is that: (1) if undesirable facts are ignored, they cease to exist, or (2) if unsupported statements asserting Plaintiffs' inability to understand are repeated often enough, they become reality, despite Plaintiffs' sworn admissions that upon reading North American's disclosures, they did understand. This understanding also establishes that Plaintiffs did not exercise reasonable diligence as required by Mississippi law.

In a futile effort to overcome such irrefutable facts, Plaintiffs' counsel rely on an "expert" who opined the policies and other documents were ambiguous and confusing, in direct contradiction of Plaintiffs' testimony.

Plaintiffs also contend the relatively recent cases of *Pate v. Conseco Life Ins. Co.*, 971 So. 2d 593 (Miss. 2008) and *Wilbourn v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the U.S.*, 998 So. 2d 430 (Miss. 2008) support their position. As is discussed in detail below, Plaintiffs' position on the law and the facts is incorrect and the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

# The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendants

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The standard of review by which an appellate court reviews the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is de novo." *Grammar v. Dollar*, 911 So.2d 619, 621-22 (¶ 4) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) (citing *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-77 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2002)). In determining whether a motion for summary judgment was properly granted, we must view the evidence "in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made." *Weatherly v. Union Planters Bank, N.A.*, 914 So. 2d 1222, 1224 (¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) (citation omitted). "This Court will only reverse a trial court's decision to grant summary judgment if triable issues of fact exist." *Johnston v. Palmer*, 963 So.2d 586, 592 (¶ 11) (Miss.Ct.App. 2007) (citing *Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp.*, 861 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2003)). "If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered for the movant." *Bullock v. Life Ins. Co. of Miss.*, 872 So. 2d 658, 660 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2004) (citing *Hurdle v. Holloway*, 848 So. 2d 183, 185 (¶ 4) (Miss. 2003)).

# II. ALL CLAIMS BROUGHT BY PLAINTIFFS ARE BARRED BY MISSISSIPPI'S GENERAL THREE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Plaintiffs' deposition testimony establishes that their only complaint is that Defendant Hancock allegedly misrepresented that if level premiums were paid, their policies would remain in force until their demise.

When Plaintiffs reviewed their policies, Statements of Policy Cost and Benefit Information, and annual policy projections at their depositions, they admitted North American informed them in writing multiple times that if level premiums were paid, their policies could lapse in the future. These disclosures were received by Plaintiffs more than three years before suit was filed. The decision of the trial court, it is respectfully submitted, should be affirmed.

#### A. The Statute of Limitations.

In Mississippi, causes of action for fraud, suppression, fraudulent inducement, conspiracy, breach of obligation of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence and/or wantonness, gross negligence, and tortious breach of contract are covered by the general three-year statute of limitations as provided in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (1972). See American Bankers' Ins. Co. v. Wells, 819 So. 2d 1196, 1200 (Miss. 2001); Agnew v. Wash. Mut. Finance Group, 244 F. Supp. 2d 672, 675 (N.D. Miss. 2003).

# 1. The Statute of Limitations Began to Run When Plaintiffs Received Their Policies.

In insurance cases where no allegations of post-sale misconduct exist, these above causes of action accrue and the statute of limitations begins to run "on the date that Plaintiff purchased his policy." *Parker v. Horace Mann Life Ins. Co.*, 949 So. 2d 57 at ¶ 7 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006); *Robinson v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Co.*, 915 So. 2d 516 at ¶ 8 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005);

Brumfield v. Pioneer Credit Co., 291 F. Supp. 2d 462, 468 (S.D. Miss. 2003); Agnew, 244 F. Supp. 2d at 676.

In the instant case, Plaintiffs admit that when they read their Policy Schedules at deposition, they understood that if level premiums were paid, their policies could lapse in the future. The policies were received more than three years before suit was filed.

# 2. Plaintiffs Have Not Met Their Burden to Establish the Statute of Limitations Should be Tolled.

The statute of limitations can be tolled if a party fraudulently conceals "the cause of action from the knowledge of the person entitled thereto...." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-67 (1972). Where such exists, the statute of limitations would not begin to run until the "time at which such fraud shall be, or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered." *Id*.

The burden of proving that the statute of limitations should be tolled past the policy purchase date is on the Plaintiffs. *Stephens v. Equitable Life Assur. Society*, 850 So. 2d 78, 84 (Miss. 2003). Plaintiffs have "a two-fold obligation to demonstrate that (1) some affirmative act or conduct occurred which prevented discovery of a claim, and (2) due diligence was performed on their part to discover it." *Id.* Plaintiffs here failed to carry their burden on either obligation.

# a. Plaintiffs Failed to Meet the First Test Necessary to Toll the Statute.

As to the first obligation, Mississippi law holds that an insurer does not commit an "affirmative act or conduct" where no post-sale misconduct is alleged and the terms of the written policy are unambiguous. *Stephens*, 850 So. 2d at 84. In *Stephens*, the plaintiffs alleged that the agents orally misrepresented the terms of their "vanishing premium" policies. *Id*. This Court concluded, as a matter of law, that because the insureds were charged with the knowledge of

the contents of their policies, "whether they actually read the policy," then the insurer committed no affirmative act to prevent discovery once it issued the policies to the insureds. *Id.* at 83.

Likewise, in *Brumfield v. Pioneer Credit Company*, the court concluded that the plaintiff, who "admits he was given the opportunity to read the documents," could not show any "affirmative acts of concealment that prevented Plaintiff from discovering his cause of action in a timely manner." 291 F. Supp. 2d 462, 469 (S.D. Miss. 2003) (applying Mississippi law); *see also Rainwater v. Lamar Life Ins. Co.*, 246 F. Supp. 2d 546, 552 (S.D. Miss. 2003) (applying Mississippi law) (holding that the plaintiffs were on "notice of the fraud by virtue of the documents in their possession"). In *Smith v. Union National Life Insurance*, the court found that plaintiffs did not even allege that the agent or insurer "took affirmative steps subsequent to the agreement to prevent their reading of the insurance agreement." 286 F. Supp. 2d 782, 789 (S.D. Miss. 2003) (applying Mississippi law). Therefore, the court concluded, the plaintiffs presented no evidence that the defendants committed any affirmative acts.

The Brief of Appellants asserts that the annual statements from North American failed to mention that Plaintiffs' policies could lapse if level premiums were paid and this was a post-policy affirmative act of misrepresentation/or suppression.

However, Plaintiffs admit that upon reviewing their policies, Statement of Policy Cost and Benefits Information, and their annual policy projections, they understood that if they only paid a level premium, their policies could lapse.

• The Affidavit of Plaintiffs' Expert is Inapposite. Apparently recognizing that Plaintiffs' testimony and the written revelations by North American required the entry of summary judgment below, Plaintiffs' counsel offered the affidavit of a purported expert, Clint Wood. Mr. Wood's affidavit states that due to the "ambiguity, complexity, and confusing language and data

contained" in the policies, "the plaintiffs were unable to understand that their policies differed from Cliff Hancock's representations." R. p. 2128. Mr. Wood furthered opined that "concealment occurred with every document showing guaranteed rates where that plaintiff's present premium would not carry the policy to the maturity date and no warning of this impending loss of coverage was stated." R. p. 2129. The Wood affidavit should not be considered by this Court for several reasons.

First, Mississippi law does not allow an expert to testify as to ambiguity. That is a question of law for the trial court to decide. *See Watts v. Horace Mann Life Ins. Co.*, 949 So.2d 833, 837 (Miss.App. 2006); *Rotenberry v. Hooker*, 864 So. 2d 266 at 269 (Miss. 2003). In *Watts*, the plaintiff presented expert testimony regarding the ambiguity of her insurance policies in an effort to overcome summary judgment. 949 So.2d at 837. The Mississippi Appeals Court found that "Watt's deposition testimony indicated that she was fully capable of reading and writing, and therefore could have understood the clear and unambiguous terms of her insurance policies if she had read them." (Emphasis added). *Id.* at 838.

The *Watts* Court then held: "the contract at issue in this case did not require the opinion of an expert to understand. The language of the policies is clear and unambiguous and speaks for itself. After presenting a copy of the policies, Horace Mann needed to present no further evidence to prove that the language was clear and unambiguous." *Id.* at 837.

As in *Watts*, the determination of ambiguity is a question of law for this Court. Furthermore, the Wood affidavit is in direct contradiction to Plaintiffs' testimony. Plaintiffs, all of whom are highly educated, testified uniformly that when they reviewed their policies, Statements of Policy Cost and Benefits Information, and post-sale policy projections, they understood these written declarations contradicted the alleged representations of Defendant Hancock. Therefore, "the

contract at issue in this case did not require the opinion of an expert to understand." *Id.* The Wood affidavit is inapposite and should not be considered on this appeal.

- Plaintiffs' Reliance on Conseco and Wilbourn is of No Aid to Them. In yet another attempt to support their contention that North American's written disclosures are ambiguous despite Plaintiffs' testimony to the contrary, Plaintiffs rely on the decisions of Pate v. Conseco Life Assurance Society of the U.S., 971 So. 2d 593, (Miss. 2008) and Wilbourn v. Equitable Life Assurance Society, 998 So. 2d 430 (Miss. 2008). These decisions are of no help to Plaintiffs.
- Conseco. The plaintiff in Conseco was sold a policy alleged to have a "planned monthly premium" that was not to increase. Premiums subsequently increased. 971 So. 2d at ¶¶ 2 and 4. The insured argued that the "terms of the contract are clear regarding the amount and payment of the premium." Id. The insurance company, on the other hand, relied on the "cash-value clause" to support its contention that the policy allowed for an increase in premiums and that the statute of limitations barred plaintiff's claims. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the insurance company. This Court reversed, holding the policy clearly did not provide that the company could increase premiums.

The policy provisions relied on by plaintiff in *Conseco* spoke of the insureds being able to change the amount of premiums paid. As this Court held, those provisions do not provide the insurance company has the right to increase premiums. This Court also held that the "cash-value clause" relied on by the insurer did not mention anything about the insurer having the right to increase premiums.

This Court did not hold either of the clauses to be ambiguous, thereby tolling the statute of limitations. Rather, in *Conseco*, this Court only held that all clauses were clear and that neither stated the insurer could increase premiums. *Conseco* has no application here.

• Wilbourn. In Wilbourn, plaintiff contended he was told he only had to pay eight years of out of pocket premiums and thereafter the policy would sustain itself and the premiums would "vanish". Defendant Equitable filed a motion to dismiss based on the three year statute of limitations. The trial court in its Order of Dismissal with Prejudice found the policy clearly stated that the premiums were payable "for life" and that "the time for filing any claim arising from the alleged representations to the contrary ... started to run on the date of delivery of the policy ... ." The Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal.

The decision of the Court of Appeals was overturned by this Court on a procedural basis; not on the merits. Although the motion filed by the Equitable was one to dismiss, the trial court entertained matters outside the pleadings. Such a motion is to be treated as a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment and is to be disposed of pursuant to that Rule. This Court held:

Accordingly, this Court concludes that the circuit court erred in merely entering an 'Order of Dismissal with Prejudice' after considering 'matters outside the pleading,' but failing to properly convert the Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment via proper notice of said hearing, see Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c), for the 'reasonable opportunity to present all materials made pertinent for such a motion by Rule 56 ....' Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b). Therefore, the circuit court's 'Order of Dismissal with Prejudice' is vacated and this case is remanded for further proceedings.

#### *Id.* at ¶ 13.

In dicta, this Court stated there was an ambiguity in the policy which prevented Plaintiffs from being able to determine that additional premiums might be required from the policyholder after the eighth annual payment. This Court discussed in detail that the policy language was clear that premiums must be paid for life, but was ambiguous as to the source of premiums after the eighth payment by the policyholder - *i.e.*, whether premiums would be paid from dividends or by the policyholder. *Id.* at ¶ 16.

In the instant appeal, there is no ambiguity as to who is to pay premiums. Plaintiffs admit that upon reading North American's disclosures, they understood that if level premiums were paid, their policies could lapse in the future. Thus, the foregoing portion of the *Wilbourn* opinion has no application here. However, the following statement by this Court in *Wilbourn* does apply:

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